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CITY OF DETROIT 

OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 

DEBARMENT REPORT 

JULY 14, 2022 

I. Debarment Determination

In August 2019, the City of Detroit Office of Inspector General (OIG) issued an interim 
suspension to BBEK Environmental, LLC (BBEK), Kevin Woods, HC Consulting Services (HC 
Consulting), James Harvey, Green Way Environmental (Green Way), and William Scully, 
pursuant to Section 18-11-10(a) of the City of Detroit Debarment Ordinance.1  The OIG’s 
preliminary review of records and information suggested that these companies and their owners 
were involved in improper and possible criminal activity which included violations of the 
Asbestos Abatement Contractors Licensing Act2 (the Act).  Therefore, the OIG issued interim 
suspensions because BBEK, Green Way, and HC Consultants perform asbestos abatement 
services which could impact the health, safety, and welfare of Detroit residents. 

Due to the possibility of criminality, pursuant to Section 7.5-308 of the Charter of the 
City of Detroit (the Charter), the OIG referred the matter to the Office of the Special Inspector 
General for the Troubled Asset Relief Program (SIGTARP).  It is important to note that Section 
18-11-10 of the City of Detroit Debarment Ordinance limits the ability of the OIG to issue
interim suspensions of up to 180 days.  In addition, because the matter was referred to
SIGTARP, the OIG could not pursue further investigation of this matter or initiate further actions
against the parties named above, such as debarment, until the conclusion of the criminal
investigation and any resulting prosecution.

On June 2, 2022, Kevin Woods pled guilty to one count of false pretenses for a violation 
of the Act and was sentenced to two years of probation, restitution for underreported Michigan 
Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (LARA) fees, and 100 hours of community 
service.3  On June 15, 2022, the OIG finalized its draft report and provided a copy, along with 
the Debarment Ordinance and OIG’s Administrative Hearing Rules, to the impacted companies 
and individuals.4  BBEK, HC Consulting, Green Way, Mr. Woods, Mr. Harvey, and Mr. Scully 
had until June 29, 2022 to request an administrative hearing and until July 13, 2022 to submit a 
written response.   

1 BBEK is owned by Kevin Woods, HC Consulting is owned by James Harvey, and Green Way is owned by 
William Scully. 
2 Asbestos Abatement Contractors Licensing Act (Act 135, P.A. 1986 as amended). 
3 Email from Michigan Assistant Attorney General Melissa Palepu to OIG Attorney Jennifer Bentley, RE: Kevin 
Woods, dated June 2, 2022. 
4 Pursuant to Section 18-11-7(a)(2) of the Debarment Ordinance, the Inspector General provided written notice of 
the proposed debarment by both certified mail, return receipt requested, and regular mail to all known interested 
parties.  The notice was also sent via email. 
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On June 23, 2022, the OIG attorney spoke with the attorney for BBEK and Mr. Woods.5  
The attorney indicated his clients would not be requesting an administrative hearing but would 
possibly submit a response in writing.  The attorney was reminded of the relevant deadlines.  On 
July 11, 2022, the OIG received a written response from BBEK’s attorney which is attached to 
this report.  The letter stated that Mr. Woods and BBEK did not contest the debarment.  It also 
indicated that the draft report stated that Mr. Woods pleaded guilty to money laundering.  That 
section of the report has been corrected to indicate that he pled guilty to false pretenses.   

 
On June 28, 2022, the OIG sent a reminder email to HC Consulting, Green Way, Mr. 

Harvey, and Mr. Scully that they had until the end of business on June 29, 2022 to request a 
hearing.6  On June 30, 2022, another email was sent indicating that no request for a hearing had 
been received by the OIG.7  On June 30, 2022, the attorney for HC Consulting and Mr. Harvey 
sent an email stating that his clients were not contesting the debarment.8  Mr. Scully’s attorneys 
never responded to the OIG’s multiple emails regarding this matter.  However, the OIG received 
the Certified Mail Return Receipt postcard from both of Mr. Scully’s attorneys which verifies 
that they received the draft debarment report and relevant information and deadlines if they 
wanted to contest the findings.9 Therefore, we deem Green Way and Mr. Scully as not contesting 
the OIG findings contained in the draft report. 
 

The OIG has determined the following based on a preponderance of the evidence: 
 

• BBEK Environmental, LLC shall be debarred for 20 years with an effective date of 
August 5, 2019 and an end date of August 5, 2039. 

• Kevin Woods shall be debarred for 20 years with an effective date of August 9, 2019 and 
an end date of August 9, 2039.  

• HC Consultants shall be debarred for 20 years with an effective date of August 5, 2019 
and an end date of August 5, 2039. 

• James Harvey shall be debarred for 5 years with an effective date of August 9, 2019 and 
an end date of August 9, 2024. 

• Green Way Environmental shall be debarred for 20 years with an effective date of August 
5, 2019 and an end date of August 5, 2039. 

• William Scully shall be debarred for 5 years with an effective date of August 9, 2019 and 
an end date of August 9, 2024. 

 

 
5 On June 23, 2022, BBEK and Kevin Woods attorney, Jim Thomas, called OIG attorney Jennifer Bentley to discuss 
the next steps and deadlines to respond to the draft debarment report. 
6 The OIG attorney sent separate emails to Green Way and Mr. Scully’s attorney Joshua Kaplan and Bryan Marcus 
regarding OIG Case No. 19-0028-INV Draft Debarment Report.  The emails were also copied to Inspector General 
Ellen Ha and Deputy Inspector General Kamau Marable.  The OIG also sent an email to HC Consulting and Mr. 
Harvey’s attorney Mark Kriger regarding OIG Case No. 19-0028-INV Draft Debarment Report.  The emails were 
also copied to Inspector General Ellen Ha and Deputy Inspector General Kamau Marable.   
7 Id. 
8 Email from HC Consulting and Mr. Harvey’s attorney Mark Kriger to OIG Attorney Jennifer Bentley regarding 
OIG Case No. 19-0028-INV Draft Debarment Report.  The emails were also copied to Inspector General Ellen Ha 
and Deputy Inspector General Kamau Marable.   
9 Mr. Marcus’ Certified Mail Return Receipt Postcard was received on June 18, 2022.  Mr. Kaplan’s Certified Mail 
Return Receipt Postcard was received on June 21, 2022. 
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Pursuant to Section 18-11-4 (b) of the Debarment Ordinance, BBEK, HC Consulting, 
Green Way, Kevin Woods, James Harvey, and William Scully are also precluded from serving 
as a “subcontractor or as a goods, services or materials supplier for any contract” for the City of 
Detroit.  Additionally, because Mr. Woods, Mr. Harvey, and Mr. Scully, as individuals, are 
debarred, no company they own, are an officer for, or have a direct or indirect financial or 
beneficial interest in may do business with the City of Detroit as a contractor or subcontractor for 
the period of debarment. 
 

II. Complaints against BBEK 
 
a. OIG File No. 19-0028-INV 

 
On July 22, 2019, the OIG received a complaint from the Detroit Land Bank Authority 

(DLBA) alleging that BBEK, Green Way, and HC Consulting may not be in compliance with the 
requirements of the Abatement and Demolition of Residential Properties Agreement as well as 
other contracts governing the provision of abatement and demolition services for the DLBA and 
the City of Detroit.  Specifically, it was alleged that BBEK, HC Consultants, and Green Way 
violated the Asbestos Contractors Licensing Act which requires an abatement company to hire a 
neutral party to conduct a post abatement air monitoring check.10 

 
The allegations involved potential false statements and other criminal activity.  

Therefore, on July 22, 2019, after opening an investigation, the OIG referred the matter to 
SIGTARP as required by Section 7.5-308 of the Charter. The OIG placed its investigation on 
hold.  However, the OIG closely monitored the investigation and provided assistance to 
SIGTARP when requested. The OIG also monitored the criminal prosecution by the State of 
Michigan Department of Attorney General for purposes of possible debarment. 
 

b. OIG File No. 18-0021-INV 
 

Prior to receiving the above referral from the DLBA, the OIG was investigating a 
separate complaint involving BBEK.  On June 4, 2018, the OIG received a complaint from the 
DLBA asserting multiple properties abated by BBEK failed the post abatement verification 
(PAV).  The allegation included documentation that showed BBEK submitted paperwork 
indicating all asbestos containing material was removed when subsequent testing indicated that 
this was false.  The OIG placed the finalization of this investigation on hold pending the outcome 
of the criminal matter and other allegations contained in OIG Case No. 19-0028-INV. 
 

III. Overview of BBEK, HC Consultants, and Green Way 
 

BBEK is an environmental services company.  It provides asbestos abatement as a 
subcontractor for demolition companies that contract with the DLBA to complete demolitions 
that are part of the Hardest Hit Fund (HHF) Demolition program as well as City of Detroit non-
HHF demolitions.  The company was also awarded Contract No. AA5.26.16C for the abatement 

 
10 Asbestos Abatement Contractors Licensing Act (Act 135, P.A. 1986 as amended), Section 338.3221 (1) Post 
abatement air monitoring check; maximum level of asbestos fibers. 
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of residential properties.11  The contract amount was $741,100.  BBEK is currently owned by 
Kevin Woods.  Since it was created in 2014, it has had the following owners: 
 

• 2014- 50%- James Harvey; 25% Kevin Woods; 25% Greg Rej 
• 2016- Woods bought out James’ 50%; sold 25% to Jerry Jung; 50% Woods, 25% Greg 

Rej, 25% Jerry Jung 
• 2017 or 2018- Woods becomes sole owner after buying out Rej and Jung.12 

 
HC Consulting conducts post-abatement air monitoring.  It was incorporated in 2014.  It 

conducted air monitoring testing for BBEK from 2015 to 2017.13  HC Consulting is currently 
owned by James Harvey who was also a silent investor in BBEK until 2017.14   

 
Green Way also conducts post-abatement air monitoring.  It was incorporated in 2017.  It 

has conducted air monitoring testing for BBEK since 2017.15  Green Way is currently owned by 
William Scully who is also the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of BBEK.   
 

IV. OIG File No. 19-0028-INV 
 

As stated above, the OIG opened this investigation on July 22, 2019 based on a complaint 
received from the DLBA.  Soon thereafter, the OIG placed its investigation on hold after 
referring the matter to SIGTARP since the allegations involved potential false statements and 
other criminal activity involving HHF funding.  On June 2, 2022, Kevin Woods pled guilty to 
one count of false pretenses for a violation of the Act based on the criminal prosecution by the 
State of Michigan Department of Attorney General.16  Therefore, on June 2, 2022, the OIG   
reopened its investigation and makes the following findings. 
 

a. False Pretense Charges Involving the Asbestos Abatement Contractors Act 
 
On February 23, 2021, Mr. Woods was charged with four counts of false pretenses over 

$100,000, 20-year felonies.17  It was alleged that Mr. Woods knowingly violated Section 
338.3221 (1) of the Asbestos Abatement Contractors Licensing Act18 (the Act) which states 
 

Except as provided by this subsection, a building or structure owner 
or lessee shall have a post abatement air monitoring check 

 
11 Detroit Land Bank Authority Hazardous Materials Abatement of Residential Properties Agreement Abatement 
Only RFP #AA5.26.16C.   
12 Email from BBEK Attorney Rebecca Camargo to DLBA General Counsel Tim Devine, RE:  BBEK 
Environmental, dated July 15, 2019. 
13 Id. 
14 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum from Melissa Palepu, Assistant Attorney General to Danielle Hagaman-
Clark, dated February 18, 2021 at pg. 8. 
15 Id. 
16 Email from Michigan Assistant Attorney General Melissa Palepu to OIG Attorney Jennifer Bentley, RE: Kevin 
Woods, dated June 2, 2022. 
17 Felony Complaint, The People of the State of Michigan v. Kevin Gordon Woods, February 23, 2021.  Mr. Woods 
was charged with M.C.L. §750.218(7)(a). 
18 Asbestos Abatement Contractors Licensing Act (Act 135, P.A. 1986 as amended), Section 338.3221 (1) Post 
abatement air monitoring check; maximum level of asbestos fibers. 



Page 5 of 18 
 

performed by a qualified neutral party completely independent of 
the asbestos abatement contractor at all asbestos abatement project 
sites involving a negative pressure enclosure as specified by 29 
C.F.R. 1926.1101(g)(5)(i) that involve 10 or more linear feet or 15 
or more square feet of friable asbestos materials. If the asbestos 
abatement contractor and the building or structure owner or lessee 
agree, the owner or lessee may have the post abatement air 
monitoring check required by this subsection performed by in-house 
personnel or by the asbestos abatement contractor.  

 
The Act defines a “neutral party” as a “business entity that is not part of the asbestos abatement 
contractor's primary or secondary family and is not legally associated to any business operated 
by the asbestos abatement contractor.19”  The companies relevant to these charges are BBEK, 
HC Consulting, and Green Way.  It should be noted that Mr. Woods and BBEK never had an 
agreement with the DLBA that would have allowed them to use a non-neutral company to 
conduct air monitoring.20 
 

(1) Relationship Between BBEK and HC Consulting 
 

In January 2014, BBEK was founded by Kevin Woods with the help of silent investors.21  
The silent investors had no role in the operations of BBEK apart from financial oversight 
including approval of the company’s finances.  One of the silent investors was James Harvey, 
who founded HC Consulting in 2014.22  HC Consulting was used by BBEK as its neutral third-
party air monitor on City of Detroit and DLBA demolitions until 2017.23   

 
However, evidence shows that HC Consulting was not a neutral party completely 

independent of BBEK as required by the Act.  HC Consulting is owned by Mr. Harvey who was 
also a silent investor in BBEK until approximately November 2017 when Mr. Woods and Mr. 
Harvey entered into a settlement agreement.24  Though Mr. Harvey’s financial oversight of 
BBEK ended at that time, evidence shows he had oversight of BBEK’s finances the entire time 
HC Consulting acted as BBEK’s neutral and independent air monitor.  Additionally, BBEK and 
HC Consulting were both located at 24808 Thomas Street in Warren, MI.25  The “contact 
information for HC Consulting was the exact same as that of BBEK and [Mr. Woods] provided 
an email address of kevin@hcconsultingservices.com26” while doing work on behalf of HC 
Consulting despite being the owner of BBEK.   

 
19 Asbestos Abatement Contractors Licensing Act (Act 135, P.A. 1986 as amended), Section 338.3103 (n) 
Definitions. 
20 Email from BBEK Attorney Rebecca Camargo to DLBA General Counsel Tim Devine, RE:  BBEK 
Environmental, dated July 16, 2019. 
21 LARA Articles of Organization, January 29, 2014. 
22 LARA Articles of Organization, September 18, 2014. 
23 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 8. 
24 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 8 and Memorandum of OIG Interview of Kevin Woods on 
August 27, 2019.  The interview was attended by Mr. Woods attorney, Rebecca Camargo. 
25 U.S. Department of the Treasury Office of the Special Inspector General for the Troubled Asset Relief Program 
(SIGTARP) Memorandum of Investigative Activity, Interview of Floyd Powell conducted by SIGTARP Special 
Agents Michael Gianoukos and Richard DeLisio, January 14, 2021. 
26 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 8. 
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Moreover, the employees used by HC Consulting were in fact BBEK employees.27  Mr. 

Woods confirmed to the OIG that he would provide BBEK employees for use by HC 
Consulting.28  All employees used by HC Consulting received W-2 information indicating that 
BBEK was their employer.29  Mr. Woods “admitted that the very reports authored by HC 
Consulting regarding the air monitoring readings were authored by BBEK employees,” including 
Mr. Woods.30  Further, current and former BBEK employees stated that Mr. Woods was in 
charge of HC Consulting.31  Mr. Woods provided employees with their job locations and 
assignment as well as monitored all work being completed by HC Consulting.  Several BBEK 
employees indicated that if they had any issues or questions regarding the air monitoring, they 
would contact Mr. Woods.  Employees also reported that they did not have any interactions with 
Mr. Harvey.32 

 
Lastly, evidence shows Mr. Woods benefitted financially from his relationship with HC 

Consulting.  Mr. Woods confirmed that he “received ‘bonus checks’ from [Mr. Harvey] every 
five to six months in the amount of $5,000 to $10,000 each time.  Overall, Mr. Woods received 
$153,000 from HC Consulting from November 2015 through August 2017” which was deposited 
into his personal account.33  
 

(2) Relationship Between BBEK and Green Way 
 

After BBEK ended its relationship with HC Consulting in 2017, Green Way was started 
with the assistance of Mr. Woods and William Scully was listed as the owner.34  Mr. Scully is 
also BBEK’s Chief Financial Officer (CFO).35  In 2017, Green Way started performing all the 
neutral third-party air monitoring for BBEK.  Similar to HC Consultants, evidence shows that 
Green Way in fact was not a neutral party completely independent of BBEK as required by the 
Act.   

  
At all times, Mr. Scully is simultaneously the owner of Green Way and CFO of BBEK 

meaning that he benefits from both companies and is therefore not a neutral and independent 
third party.  BBEK has an Operating Agreement dated January 1, 2018, signed by Mr. Woods.  It 
states “William Scully shall be the ‘Tax Management Partner’ within the meaning of IRS Code 
Section 6231(a)(7).  The Member may, from time to time, designate another person or party to 
serve in such capacity.36” 
 

 
27 Id. 
28 Memorandum of OIG Interview of Kevin Woods, August 27, 2019. 
29 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 9. 
30 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pgs. 8-9. 
31 U.S. Department of the Treasury Office of the Special Inspector General for the Troubled Asset Relief Program 
(SIGTARP) Special Agent Michael Gianoukos conducted interviews of both current and former BBEK employees 
including Jonathan Burtraw, David Gillespie, Floyd Powell, Keith Ventimiglia, Michael Millard, and Krystyl Kirby.  
All interviews were conducted between January and March 2021. 
32 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 8 and SIGTARP Interviews. 
33 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 9. 
34 LARA Articles of Organization, August 1, 2017. 
35 Memorandum of OIG Interview of Kevin Woods, August 27, 2019. 
36 BBEK Operating Agreement, Article III Books, Records and Accounting, Section 3.3 Tax Matters Partner.   
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The Operating Agreement also states the following: 
 

The Company shall maintain the key man life insurance policy 
issued by Lincoln Financial Group, dated December 28, 2017, 
policy number…, in the name of the Member, or a similar policy.  
The policy amount shall be no less than $5,000,000.  The beneficiary 
of the policy shall be the Company.  The Member shall submit to 
any physical exam and or answer any reasonable questions in 
connection with the maintenance of said policy.  Upon the death of 
the Member, the insurance policy monies shall be used to wind up 
the Company.  After winding up is completed per Article XI, 85% 
of any monies leftover shall fund the Member’s estate.  The 
remaining 15% shall be paid to William Scully.37   

 
BBEK, through its attorney, acknowledged that Mr. Scully is employed by BBEK as the 

CFO but stated that he has no financial interest in the company.38  However, if something were 
to happen to Mr. Woods and BBEK could no longer operate, Mr. Scully would benefit 
financially from the winding up of the company.  Mr. Scully also receives bonuses based on the 
success of BBEK.39  Mr. Woods also benefitted financially from Green Way by making over 
$250,000 from the relationship between Green Way and BBEK.40 
 

Additionally, Green Way shares an office space with BBEK which is located at 27610 
College Park Drive in Warren, MI.  According to Lease Agreements between Green Way and 
BBEK, monthly rent was due and made payable to BBEK in the amount of $1,000 on the first of 
every month.  BBEK, as the landlord, paid all utilities.  The lease was signed by BBEK owner 
Kevin Woods and Green Way owner William Scully.   
 

On January 1, 2018, BBEK and Green Way formalized their relationship and entered into 
a General Service Agreement in which BBEK agreed to contract with Green Way to provide 
BBEK with services consisting of air monitoring, and labor staffing.41  This agreement was 
signed by BBEK owner Kevin Woods and Green Way owner William Scully.  However, at all 
times relevant, Green Way only had two employees: William Scully and Kevin Woods.42 Instead 
of hiring its own employees to be independent and neutral from BBEK, Green Way used all 
BBEK employees.43  Mr. Woods stated that Mr. Scully would “pay BBEK back for the use of 
the employees.44”  It should also be noted that Mr. Woods is a signatory on Green Way’s bank 
account.45 

 

 
37 BBEK Operating Agreement, Article VI Insurance, Section 6.1 Key Man Insurance.   
38 Email from BBEK Attorney Rebecca Camargo to DLBA General Counsel Tim Devine, RE:  BBEK 
Environmental, dated July 15, 2019. 
39 Memorandum of OIG Interview of Kevin Woods, August 27, 2019. 
40 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 10. 
41 General Services Agreement between Green Way and BBEK, Services Provided. 
42 Green Way Employee List provided to the OIG in July 2019. 
43 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 9 and Memorandum of OIG Interview of Kevin Woods. 
44 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 9. 
45 Id. 
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Further, current and former BBEK employees stated that Mr. Woods was in charge of 
Green Way.46  Mr. Woods provided employees with their job locations and assignment as well 
as monitored all work being completed by Green Way.  Several BBEK employees conducting 
Green Way air monitoring indicated that if they had any issues or questions regarding the air 
monitoring, they would contact Mr. Woods.  Employees reported that they did not have any 
interactions with Mr. Scully.47 

 
b. False Pretense Charge Involving Money Laundering 

 
On February 23, 2021, Mr. Woods was charged with one count of money laundering.  It 

is a 10-year felony.48  It was alleged that Mr. Woods attempted to conceal BBEK’s relationship 
with Green Way by laundering money between accounts in an effort to convince others that 
Green Way paid BBEK rent and fees for the use of BBEK employees.   
 

Evidence showed that Mr. Woods became aware that the relationship between BBEK and 
Green Way was being investigated.  Therefore, he created a fraudulent lease agreement between 
the two companies.  It was also determined that “Mr. Woods laundered money between his 
BBEK Flagstar account, his personal Flagstar account, and the Green Way Flagstar account49” to 
conceal his activities.  Specifically,  
 

Mr. Woods took $75,000 on two separate occasions from the BBEK 
account and moved that money to his personal Flagstar account.  
Once those funds posted he then took the money from his personal 
account and moved it to the Green Way account.  Then once they 
posted in the Green Way account he moved the money back to the 
BBEK account and claimed the money was for payment of rent and 
for reimbursement of employee labor.50   

 
Mr. Woods also provided information, including invoices and checks, to the OIG suggesting that 
Green Way paid BBEK for rent and services.  Therefore, we find that Mr. Woods attempted to 
mislead and misrepresent information to the OIG to conceal the true relationship between BBEK 
and Green Way. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
46 U.S. Department of the Treasury Office of the Special Inspector General for the Troubled Asset Relief Program 
(SIGTARP) Special Agent Michael Gianoukos conducted interviews of both current and former BBEK employees 
including Jonathan Burtraw, David Gillespie, Floyd Powell, Keith Ventimiglia, Michael Millard, and Krystyl Kirby.  
All interviews were conducted between January and March 2021 and Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at 
pg. 9. 
47 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 9 and SIGTARP Interviews. 
48 Felony Complaint, The People of the State of Michigan v. Kevin Gordon Woods, February 23, 2021.  Mr. Woods 
was charged with M.C.L. §750.411k and M.C.L. §750.411n. 
49 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 10. 
50 Id. 
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c. False Pretense Charges Involving LARA Fees 
 

On February 23, 2021, Mr. Woods was charged with one count of false pretenses 
between $1,000 and $20,000, a five-year felony.51  It was alleged that Mr. Woods knowingly 
violated Section 338.3220(3) of the Asbestos Abatement Contractors Licensing Act (the Act).  It 
states that an “asbestos abatement contractor providing written notification to the [Michigan 
Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs]… shall include a fee equal to 1% of the price 
of the contract for the asbestos abatement project and shall make available upon the request of 
the department a copy of the contract for the asbestos abatement project.52” 

 
Mr. Woods provided the required notifications to the Michigan Department of Licensing 

and Regulatory Affairs (LARA) by filling out the Notification of Intent to Renovate/ Demolish 
forms.  However, he consistently devalued the project cost by close to 50%.  A forensic review 
conducted by SIGTARP and the State of Michigan Department of Attorney General of Mr. 
Woods’ LARA submissions found that he “cheated the State of Michigan out of approximately 
$21,646.24.53”  Mr. Woods pled guilty to this count and was sentenced to two years of probation, 
restitution for the underreported LARA fees, and 100 hours of community service.54 

 
d. OIG Findings regarding False Pretenses 

 
Based on a preponderance of the evidence, including interviews, documents submitted by 

BBEK, and Mr. Woods’ guilty plea to false pretenses, the OIG finds that BBEK, through Mr. 
Woods, engaged in criminal offenses that evidence a lack business integrity or business honesty.  
We also find Mr. Woods knowingly violated the Act by using HC Consulting and Green Way as 
its air monitoring companies though the companies were required to be neutral and independent 
from BBEK.  While BBEK, HC Consulting and Green Way were three different companies on 
paper, in practice, Mr. Woods not only controlled BBEK but was also exercised control over HC 
Consulting and Green Way.  He also took steps to conceal BBEK’s relationship with Green Way 
by engaging in money laundering. 
 

Based on our review of the records, we find Mr. Woods was aware that the air monitoring 
companies were required to be neutral and independent from BBEK.  Evidence shows Mr. 
Woods took steps to conceal the relationship by falsifying documents, engaging in money 
laundering, and providing false and misleading statements to various governmental agencies, 
including the OIG.  Further, a BBEK employee confirmed that he raised this issue with Mr. 
Woods “at least a half dozen times.”  The employee was concerned about losing his Certified 
Hazardous Material Manager accreditation if BBEK was ever audited.  The employee stated that 

 
51 Felony Complaint, The People of the State of Michigan v. Kevin Gordon Woods, February 23, 2021.  Mr. Woods 
was charged with M.C.L. §750.218(4)(a). 
52 Asbestos Abatement Contractors Licensing Act (Act 135, P.A. 1986 as amended), Section 338.3220 Asbestos 
abatement project; notice; fees; asbestos abatement fund; report; emergencies.  Sec. 220. 
53 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 11. 
54 Email from Michigan Assistant Attorney General Melissa Palepu to OIG Attorney Jennifer Bentley, RE: Kevin 
Woods, dated June 2, 2022. 
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Mr. Woods’ told him to pay attention to his business and that he was either on the team or not.  
Therefore, the employee stopped raising the issue with Mr. Woods.55 
 

e. Bribery of a Demolition Contractor 
 

On February 23, 2021, Mr. Woods was charged with one count of bribery of an agent or 
employee, a one-year misdemeanor.56  It was alleged that Mr. Woods paid an Adamo Group 
(Adamo)57 estimator (Adamo estimator) on at least three separate occasions to secure abatement 
subcontracts.58  The Adamo estimator worked for Adamo from approximately January 2013 
through April 2015.  His responsibilities included assembling bid packages, which included bids 
from abatement subcontractors, in response to Request for Proposals (RFP’s) issued by the City 
of Detroit and the DLBA to secure demolition contracts.59   
 

The Adamo estimator identified at least three occasions where Mr. Woods bribed him 
with either cash or a check to obtain the abatement subcontracts from Adamo.  Evidence shows 
that on December 24, 2014, Mr. Woods paid the Adamo estimator with a check for $6,500 for 
assisting BBEK in obtaining two to three subcontracts with Adamo.60  In February 2015, Mr. 
Woods also gave the same Adamo estimator between $1,000 and $1,200 in cash.61  On March 
27, 2015, Mr. Woods again bribed the Adamo estimator with a check for $1,500.62  The Adamo 
estimator stated that Mr. Woods gave him over $8,000, in total, for his assistance in ensuring 
Adamo awarded its subcontracts to BBEK.63    
 

Mr. Woods did not deny giving the Adamo estimator money.  Initially, Mr. Woods 
claimed that he gave the money to the Adamo estimator for various reasons including as a loan 
and for consulting work.  Mr. Woods even took the step of adding the Adamo estimator to 
BBEK’s payroll in an attempt to hide his improper actions as well as write off the costs for tax 
purposes.64  However,  
 

Mr. Woods ultimately admitted he paid [Adamo estimator] in order 
to obtain future contracts from Adamo.  Mr. Woods attempted to 

 
55 SIGTARP Memorandum of Investigative Activity, Interview of Jonathan Burtraw conducted by SIGTARP 
Special Agents Michael Gianoukos and Richard DeLisio, March 3, 2021. 
56 Felony Complaint, The People of the State of Michigan v. Kevin Gordon Woods, February 23, 2021.  Mr. Woods 
was charged with M.C.L. §750.125. 
57 Adamo is a demolition company that has done numerous demolitions as a contractor for the City of Detroit and 
the Detroit Land Bank Authority.  See https://www.adamogroup.com/ 
58 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 6. 
59 Plea Hearing of Aradondo Haskins, United States of America v. D-1 Aradondo Haskins, Case No. 19-20159 
United States District Court Eastern District of Michigan, April 9, 2019, pg. 14. 
60 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 6 and Check No. 1145 from BBEK to Aradondo Haskins for 
$6,500. 
61 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 7 and Comerica Deposit form noting a $1,000 cash deposit on 
February 23, 2015. 
62 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 7 and Check No. 3415301518 from BBEK to Aradondo Haskins 
for $1,500.   
63 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 7. 
64 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 7 and BBEK Employee Earnings Record from January 1, 2015 to 
December 31, 2015. 
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justify this behavior by declaring it was common in his field.  Mr. 
Woods admitted to paying [Adamo estimator] several grand in cash 
over three to four occasions, and via check on a couple of occasions, 
totaling around $10,000 and that the payments were for assistance 
in obtaining future contracts with Adamo.65 

 
Based on a preponderance of the evidence, including bank records, copies of cashed 

checks, BBEK’s payroll, and Mr. Woods own admission, the OIG finds that BBEK, through Mr. 
Woods, engaged in a criminal offense that evidences lack business integrity or honesty by 
engaging in bribery.  Mr. Woods was fully aware that Adamo was awarded several demolition 
contracts from the City of Detroit and the DLBA and he wanted to benefit from the large amount 
of money being put into demolition work.  “As a result of the bribes, Mr. Woods obtained 
several contracts from Adamo that he would not have likely received without the assistance of 
the Adamo estimator.66” 

 
V. 18-0021-INV BBEK Abatement Issues 

 
a. Complaint 

 
On June 4, 2018, the OIG received a complaint from the DLBA.  It was alleged that 48 of 

the 84 properties abated by BBEK failed the Post Abatement Verification (PAV).  The OIG 
placed this investigation on hold pending the outcome of the criminal review and prosecution of 
19-0028-INV involving BBEK, Green Way, and HC Consultants.   
 

b. Background 
 

On June 17, 2016, the DLBA directly contracted with BBEK under RFP #AA5.26.16C to 
provide supervision, labor, material, and equipment for asbestos abatement and universal waste 
removal services for 84 HHF properties located within the City of Detroit.  The DLBA agreed to 
pay BBEK $714,000 for the complete and proper performance of the work as set forth in the 
contract.67 
 

According to Detroit Building Authority (DBA) Deputy Director of Demolition Timothy 
Palazzolo,68 RFP #AA5.26.16C was atypical because the DBA issued a bid contract solely for 
abatement work.  Most RFP’s required a bid inclusive of both abatement and demolition 
services.69  The abatement services only bid was done in an attempt to save money on 
administrative fees charged by the contractors.  

 
 

 
65 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pgs. 7-8. 
66 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 16. 
67 Detroit Land Bank Authority Hazardous Materials Abatement of Residential Properties Agreement Abatement 
Only RFP #AA5.26.16C, 5.01 Compensation, pg. 3. 
68 Mr. Palazzolo is now Deputy Director of the City of Detroit Demolition Department. 
69 OIG Interview with DBA employees Tim Palazzolo, Tom Fett, Ron Crawford, Robert Hewitt, and Kinnary Shah 
on April 26, 2017 regarding Case No. 2017-0017 PASI.  This case also alleged a failure by the contractor to remove 
all ACM. 
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c. Post-Abatement Inspection Failures 
 

In November 2016, the DBA adopted a new policy requiring verification that abatement 
contractors had removed all asbestos containing material from each property.  In furtherance of 
this policy, the DLBA contracted with the Mannik & Smith Group, Inc. (MSG) to conduct post 
abatement inspections and verifications (PAVs) at the BBEK abated properties.  MSG’s PAVs 
found that 48 of the 84 properties abated by BBEK still contained asbestos and thus were not 
cleared for demolition.   
 

Based on our review of MSG’s PAVs of the work performed by BBEK, we find the 
following: 
 

• 11 properties had “very troublesome” amounts of remaining asbestos containing 
material;  

• 33 properties had “nominal quantities” that still raised concerns; and 
• 4 properties were noted by BBEK as “couldn’t access” due to unsafe conditions. 

However, MSG’s PAVs states that these properties were accessible.70 
 

Mr. Woods claimed the MSG’s PAVs were inaccurate.  Mr. Woods explained that all of 
the properties in question were abated by BBEK in 2016 but the demolitions were put on hold 
due to an HHF Demolition Program funding issue.71  Approximately a year later, between June 
27, 2017 and September 15, 2017, MSG conducted PAVs on the BBEK properties.72  Mr. 
Woods stated that there were several problems with MSG’s PAVs and that it did not accurately 
show what asbestos was left behind.73  Mr. Woods claimed that each house that failed inspection 
had “only crumbs” of asbestos remaining in the properties.  He further noted that it is impossible 
to abate everything, but only insignificant amounts are left behind.74  However, we note Mr. 
Woods statements against MSG are not supported by any evidence. 
 

d. Findings for 18-0021-INV 
 

Based on MSG’s PAVs, BBEK failed to remove varying amounts of asbestos containing 
material identified in the Pre-Demolition Asbestos/ Hazardous Material Surveys.  This document 
was prepared by a separate contractor and it identified all material that had to be abated by 
BBEK.  Some of the properties contained large amounts of ACM after BBEK stated they 
completed the work, whereas other properties were found to have smaller amounts.  However, in 
all 48 BBEK properties that failed inspection and were not cleared for demolition, significant 
amount of asbestos were left behind that should have been identified by a BBEK supervisor.  We 
further find if these properties were properly inspected after the abatement was allegedly 
completed, BBEK should have found the defects in their work. 

 
70 Memorandum of OIG Call with DLBA General Counsel Mike Brady (no longer with the DLBA), DLBA 
Demolition Director Tammy Daniels, and DLBA Deputy Director of Demolition regarding the BBEK Abatement 
Complaint, dated June 5, 2018. 
71 Memorandum of OIG Interview of Kevin Woods, August 15, 2018.  The interview was attended by Mr. Woods 
attorney, Rebecca Camargo. 
72 MSG Post Abatement Verification documentation for the 48 of 84 BBEK properties that failed inspections. 
73 Memorandum of OIG Interview of Kevin Woods, August 15, 2018. 
74 Id. 
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Below is a chart that provides three (3) examples of the amounts of asbestos left behind 

by BBEK. 
 

Address ACM listed by BBEK as being 
removed 

MSG Post Abatement Verifications 
of findings of material left by BBEK 

13286 Hubbell Plaster 4050  
Window glazing 25  
Basement window glazing 5  
Building caulk 30  
5 gallons of unknown substance 5 
Can of paint 6 
Compact fluorescent bulb 1 
Television 2 

Plaster 2000 
Window glazing 5 
Basement window glazing 5  
Building caulk 30  
 

14637 
Ardmore 

Plaster 2900  
Fire stop 2 
Chimney mortar 1 
Window glaze 16 
Transite 1800  
 

Plaster 1000 
Window glaze 40 
Transite 10 
 

12811 Lauder Plaster 3889 
Pipe wrap 21 
Transite siding 1920  
Building caulk 15  
Basement window glazing 5  

Plaster 500 
Pipe wrap 3 
Transite siding 10 
Building caulk 50 
 

 
The records also show BBEK submitted affidavits, invoices, and supporting 

documentation that affirm they abated all estimated quantities of reported asbestos containing 
material as identified in the Pre-Demolition Asbestos/ Hazardous Material Surveys.75  In fact, for 
all 48 BBEK properties that failed inspection, a BBEK supervisor signed and submitted 
documentation attesting that BBEK abated all identified hazardous materials.  However, as 
indicated above, there are instances where large amounts of asbestos were left in the premises, in 
some instances as much as 2,000 square feet of plaster was left behind by BBEK.  It is unlikely 
that a trained supervisor would miss so much hazardous material if he or she was properly 
trained and/or adequately inspecting the property.  Therefore, we find BBEK employees either 
knowingly falsified documentation indicating all work was complete when it clearly was not, 
ignored asbestos containing material left in place during the final inspection, or purposefully 
neglected to inspect the properties after the work was completed. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

75 Memorandum of OIG Call with DLBA General Counsel Mike Brady (no longer with the DLBA), DLBA 
Demolition Director Tammy Daniels, and DLBA Deputy Director of Demolition regarding the BBEK Abatement 
Complaint, dated June 5, 2018. 
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VI. Debarment Analysis 
 

a. HHF Demolition Contract Language 
 

The DLBA’s HHF Demolition contracts also require that all contractors “shall comply, 
and shall require all employees, contractors, consultants, and subcontractors to comply with all 
applicable Federal, State and local laws, ordinances, codes, regulations, and policies76” including 
the Asbestos Abatement Contractor Licensing Act.77  It further states that contractors “will be 
responsible for post-abatement (clearance) air monitoring which must be completed by an 
independent third-party contractor.  The post-abatement air monitoring must comply with 
Michigan Public Act 135, Section 338.3221.78”  

 
BBEK was aware of these requirements when they directly contracted with the DLBA in 

2016.  For example, on June 17, 2016, DLBA and BBEK entered into Contract No. AA5.26.16C 
for the abatement of residential properties.79  The contract required that BBEK comply with the 
State of Michigan Public Acts P.A. 135, 1986; P.A. 147, 1986; P.A. 439, 1988 and P.A. 440, 
1988.80  This provision did not change as BBEK continued to work as a subcontractor on HHF 
demolitions.   
 

Additionally, BBEK holds “all required State [and] Federal licenses.81”  The State of 
Michigan requires contractors to complete a Michigan/ EPA approved training course to become 
a licensed asbestos abatement contractor.  This requirement was initiated in September 1986 with 
the establishment of the Asbestos Program, a section within the Michigan Department of 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (LARA), Michigan Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration (MIOSHA) Construction Safety and Health Division (CSHD).  The purpose of 
the program is to “ensure that people working with asbestos are properly trained and that 
individuals performing asbestos abatement comply with rules governing the work activity.82”  
Therefore, we find Mr. Woods knew or should have known that contractors are required to use 
an independent air monitoring company.   
 

b. Reasons for Debarment 
 

Section 18-11-5 of the Debarment Ordinance outlines the reasons a contractor may be 
debarred.  It states, in pertinent part, that  
 

(a) a contractor may be debarred, based upon a preponderance of the 
evidence, for: 
 

 
76 Detroit Land Bank Authority Hazardous Materials Abatement of Residential Properties Agreement Abatement 
Only RFP #AA5.26.16C, Section12.  Compliance with Laws.  12.01 
77 DLBA Agreement, Part 4: Abatement of Asbestos-Containing and Other Hazardous/ Regulated Materials (D)(5). 
78 DLBA Agreement, Part 4: Abatement of Asbestos-Containing and Other Hazardous/ Regulated Materials (K) 
79 Detroit Land Bank Authority Hazardous Materials Abatement of Residential Properties Agreement Abatement 
Only RFP #AA5.26.16C.   
80 Id. at 21. 
81 https://www.bbekenvironmental.com/#about-us, August 11, 2021. 
82 https://www.michigan.gov/documents/CIS_WSH_conlic_33817_7.PDF accessed on August 12, 2021. 
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(1) Violation of the terms of a City contract or subcontract, or a 
contract or subcontract funded in whole or in part by City 
funds, such as failure to perform in accordance with the terms 
of one or more contracts; or the failure to perform, or 
unsatisfactory performance of one or more contracts;  
 

(2) Failing to comply with state, federal, or local laws or 
regulations applicable to the performance of a contract;… 

 
(5) Evidence of (i) the contractor or the contractors officers or 

owners, or (2) any person or entity having a direct or indirect 
financial or beneficial interest in the contractor or its 
operations; engaging in a criminal offense or civil 
misconduct that evidences a lack of business integrity or 
business honesty including but not limited to embezzlement, 
theft, theft of services, forgery, bribery, fraud, tax evasion, 
falsification or destruction of records, making false 
statements or receiving stolen property, or violations of law 
relating to the obtaining or performance of public contracts; 
 

(6)  Submission of false or misleading documentation, or making 
false or misleading statements. 

 
(8) Any other conduct that evidences the inability of the 

contractor to act responsibly in its conduct on behalf of the 
City.83 

 
Evidence shows that BBEK violated the terms of its contract and subcontracts with the 

DLBA HHF Demolition Program and the City of Detroit.  BBEK violated the HHF demolition 
contracts by failing to comply with the Asbestos Abatement Contractor Licensing Act, which 
was also specifically required by the contracts.84  The contract further states that contractors 
“will be responsible for post-abatement (clearance) air monitoring which must be completed by 
an independent third-party contractor.  The post-abatement air monitoring must comply with 
Michigan Public Act 135, Section 338.3221.85”  Therefore, we find Mr. Woods knowingly and 
purposefully used non-neutral air monitoring companies to enrich himself.  We further find that 
Mr. Harvey and Mr. Scully allowed themselves to be listed as the owners of the air monitoring 
companies while giving complete control to Mr. Woods.  However, there is no evidence that they 
knowingly and actively assisted Mr. Woods in violating the Act. 
 

We find BBEK, HC Consulting, and Green Way failed to comply with state, federal, or 
local laws or regulations.  Moreover, they knowingly violated the Act’s requirement for air 
monitoring to be conducted by an independent third-party contractor, as evidenced by their failed 
attempt to separate themselves as three different companies.  Additionally, BBEK and Mr. 

 
83 Debarment Ordinance, Section 18-11-5.  Grounds for Debarment. 
84 DLBA Agreement, Part 4: Abatement of Asbestos-Containing and Other Hazardous/ Regulated Materials (D)(5). 
85 DLBA Agreement, Part 4: Abatement of Asbestos-Containing and Other Hazardous/ Regulated Materials (K). 
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Woods violated the Act’s requirement that BBEK pay a fee equal to 1% of the price of the 
contract for the asbestos abatement project.86  
 

We further find Mr. Woods engaged in criminal conduct which evidenced a lack of 
business integrity or business honesty.  Mr. Woods engaged in false pretenses, money 
laundering, and bribery which allowed him to enrich himself and his companies at the expense of 
taxpayers.  In total, Mr. Woods made over $1,000,000 through these false pretenses and 
improper actions.87 
 

BBEK submitted false or misleading documentation and made false or misleading 
statements.  Mr. Woods submitted information to LARA which devalued BBEK’s project costs 
resulting in an underpayment to the State of Michigan.  He also provided false and misleading 
information to the OIG and other agencies regarding Green Way’s payment of rent and labor 
costs to BBEK.  Further, for Contract No. AA5.26.16C, BBEK submitted affidavits, invoices, 
and supporting documentation that falsely indicated they had abated all estimated quantities of 
reported asbestos containing material as identified in the Pre-Demolition Asbestos/ Hazardous 
Material Surveys.  Likewise, a BBEK supervisor falsely signed and submitted documentation 
attesting that BBEK abated all necessary material. 
 

Lastly, we conclude Mr. Woods, Mr. Harvey, and Mr. Scully’s actions evidence their 
inability to act responsibly while performing their duties on behalf of the City of Detroit.  We 
find BBEK, HC Consulting, and Green Way engaged in behavior that shows an indifference 
toward the policies and procedures established by the City of Detroit, to which they agreed to 
comply.  In addition, their actions show a total disregard for the laws established by the federal, 
state, and local government.  BBEK, HC Consulting, and Green Way’s actions also evidence a 
total disregard for the health, safety, and welfare of residents.  Therefore, it is in the public 
interest that BBEK, HC Consulting, Green Way, Kevin Woods, James Harvey, and William 
Scully be debarred.  
 

c. Length of Debarment 
 

Section 18-11-12 of the Debarment Ordinance states, in part,  
 

(a) The period of debarment shall be commensurate with the 
seriousness of the cause or causes therefore, but in no case shall 
the period exceed 20 years.  Generally, debarment should not 
exceed five years, except: 
 

(1) Debarment for convictions of criminal offenses that are 
incident to the application to, or performance of, a contract 
or subcontract with the City, including but not limited to, 
embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery… may receive the 
maximum period.   
 

 
86 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pgs. 10-11. 
87 Amended Warrant Request Memorandum at pg. 13. 
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(3) Debarment involving purposeful deceit including but not 
limited to making a deceptive, false, or fraudulent 
statement which evidences a desire to circumvent or 
otherwise compromise the investigative process. 

 
Mr. Woods was charged with the following offenses: 

 
• Four counts of false pretenses over $100,000, all 20-year felonies; 
• One count of money laundering, a 10-year felony; 
• One count of false pretenses between $1,000 and $20,000, a five-year felony; and 
• One count of bribery of an agent or employee, a one-year misdemeanor.88 

 
The records show that on June 2, 2022, Mr. Woods pled guilty to one count of false 

pretenses for falsifying the LARA submissions resulting in undervalued fees.  As such, he was 
sentenced to two years of probation, restitution for the underreported fees, and 100 hours of 
community service.89  Further, the OIG finds that, based on a preponderance of the evidence 
detailed in the prior pages, Mr. Woods engaged in the criminal conduct related to BBEK’s work 
as a City of Detroit subcontractor which resulted in the other charges involving false pretenses, 
money laundering, and bribery.  His actions allowed him to enrich himself at the expense of City 
of Detroit residents and other contractors.   

 
Further, Mr. Woods’ conduct involved purposeful deceit in which he made deceptive, 

false, and fraudulent statements to compromise the OIG’s investigative process.  These actions 
included providing deceptive and false statements during his OIG interview in which he denied 
involvement with HC Consulting and Green Way, as well as providing falsified lease and check 
information.  Therefore, the OIG finds that it is in the public interest to debar BBEK, HC 
Consulting, Green Way, and Kevin Woods for the maximum allowable time of 20 years.  The 
OIG also finds that it is in the public interest to debar James Harvey and William Scully for five 
(5) years for failing to act as responsible contractors in their conduct on behalf of the City of 
Detroit.  They both failed to provide sufficient oversight over companies in which they were the 
listed owners, but Kevin Woods had complete control.  Mr. Woods was then able to act without 
impunity which caused great harm to the City of Detroit and its residents. 
 

(4) Conclusion 
 

Based on our investigation, the facts as found and supported by the entire record of 
information and a preponderance of the evidence as detailed above, the OIG finds that BBEK, 
HC Consulting, Green Way, Kevin Woods, James Harvey, and William Scully are not 
responsible contractors.  Mr. Woods’ actions on behalf of BBEK, HC Consulting, and Green 
Way lacked business integrity and business honesty.  Additionally, Mr. Harvey and Mr. Scully 
allowed Mr. Woods to use their names as owners of the air monitoring companies to aid in Mr. 
Woods’ deception, also indicating a lack of business integrity and business honesty.   

 
88 Felony Complaint, The People of the State of Michigan v. Kevin Gordon Woods, February 23, 2021.  Mr. Woods 
was charged with M.C.L. §750.125. 
89 Email from Michigan Assistant Attorney General Melissa Palepu to OIG Attorney Jennifer Bentley, RE: Kevin 
Woods, dated June 2, 2022. 
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The OIG is required to ensure that the City solicits offers from and awards contracts to 

responsible contractors only.  The serious nature of debarment requires that it is only imposed 
when it is in the public’s interest, which the OIG finds in this instance.  Pursuant to Section 18-
11-4 (b) of the Debarment Ordinance, BBEK, HC Consulting, Green Way, Kevin Woods, James 
Harvey, and William Scully are also precluded from serving as a “subcontractor or as a goods, 
services or materials supplier for any contract” for the City of Detroit.  Further, no company they 
own, are an officer for, or have a direct or indirect financial or beneficial interest in may do 
business with the City of Detroit as a contractor or subcontractor for the period of debarment. 
 

On August 5, 2019, the OIG issued interim suspensions to BBEK, HC Consulting, and 
Green Way.  On August 9, 2019, the OIG issued interim suspensions to Kevin Woods, James 
Harvey, and William Scully.  Section 18-11-12 of the Debarment Ordinance states that “[i]f 
suspension precedes a debarment, the suspension period shall be considered in determining the 
debarment period.”  Therefore, BBEK, Green Way, and HC Consulting’s debarment effective 
date is August 5, 2019.  Kevin Woods, William Scully, and James Harvey’s debarment effective 
date is August 9, 2019. 
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